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I.

PRAYER FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL
Defendant-Petitioners 111 East Chestnut Condominium Association, Inc., an

Illinois not for profit corporation (the “Association”), and Anthony Milazzo, Mike Fish,
Serap Bush, and Glenn Greene (collectively with the Association, the “Defendants”),
pursuant to Supreme Court Rule 315, pray for an order of the Illinois Supreme Court
granting them leave to appeal from the Judgment of the Appellate Court in this matter. A
true and correct copy of the Appellate Opinion entered on June 14, 2018, inclusive of its
10-page dissent by Justice Mason, is contained in the attached Appendix.
II.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT AND JUDGMENT BELOW
The Appellate Court entered its Opinion on the underlying appeal on June 14, 2018.

This Petition is filed within 35 days thereafter, in accordance with Illinois Supreme Court
Rule 315. No Petition for Rehearing was filed.
III.

STATEMENT OF POINTS RELIED UPON FOR REVERSAL
Point One
Plaintiff-Appellee, Michael Boucher (“Plaintiff”) claimed in Count I of his

Amended Complaint that Defendants had violated his Constitutional rights to free speech
by imposing fines against him - following notice and an opportunity to be heard – for
violation of the Association’s Declaration and rules and regulations. In reversing the trial
court’s dismissal of Count I, the Appellate majority determined that no State action is
required in order to trigger the free speech protections of either the United States
Constitution or the Illinois Constitution. This conclusion is both erroneous and runs afoul
of this Court’s decision in People v. DiGuida, 152 Ill. 2d 104, 124 (1992). See, too,
Goldberg v. 400 East Ohio Condominium Ass’n, 12 F. Supp. 2d 820, 823 (N.D. Ill. 1998)
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(“there is no state action inherent in the possible future state court enforcement of a private
property agreement”).
The Defendants urge that this Court follow the precedent established in Committee
for a Better Twin Rivers v. Twin Rivers Homeowners’ Ass’n, 929 A. 2d 1060 (S. Ct. N.J.
2007), wherein the New Jersey Supreme Court considered a constitutional challenge to a
homeowner association’s refusal to allow a variety of actions, inclusive of political-like
speech aimed at the manner in which the association was managed (compare R. C000133).
Noting that the relationship between the association and its owners is contractual,
formalized in reasonable covenants, and did not constitute a private forum that invites in
the public for the purpose of facilitating academic discourse or public commerce on its
property, the Court there found that there was no violation of the plaintiffs’ constitutional
rights.
The underlying majority’s reliance on Cooper v. Pate, 378 U.S. 546 (1964),
conversely, is misplaced, as that case involved a state penitentiary and an inmate’s claim
of deprivation of his rights to freedom of religion by this State actor. In any event,
Plaintiff’s Complaint was so devoid of factual allegations supporting his conclusion that
the violation notices were motivated by retaliation for Plaintiff’s alleged criticisms of
management that Justice Mason’s dissent characterized Plaintiff’s claim of violation of his
First Amendment rights as “specious.” (A-27). She observes further that, so great was the
mountain of evidence of wrongdoing adduced against Plaintiff, any attempt on his part to
amend his Complaint to shore up his claim of retaliation would be not only futile, but
sanctionable. (A-30).
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Point Two
In Count II of his Complaint, Plaintiff had contended that the Board’s videotape of
his violations hearing constituted “minutes” which, under Section 19 of the Illinois
Condominium Property Act (the “Act”), 765 ILCS 605/19(a)(4), the Defendants were
obligated to turn over.

Disagreeing, the trial court awarded summary judgment in

Defendants’ favor and denied the Plaintiff’s cross-motion therefor. The appellate majority
reversed. In so doing, the majority not only undercuts the protections of confidentiality
under Section 18(a)(9)(A) of the Act, but effectively renders them a nullity; among other
things, the majority decision also jeopardizes the protections of attorney-client
confidentiality in the condominium setting.
Section 18(a)(9)(A) of the Act provides, in pertinent part, that all meetings of the
board shall be open to any unit owner, except that:
(A)

the board may close any portion of a noticed meeting or meet
separately from a noticed meeting to: (i) discuss litigation * * * (iv)
discuss violations of rules and regulations of the association, (v)
discuss a unit owner’s unpaid share of common expenses, or (vi)
consult with the association’s legal counsel. [Emphases added].

There are many reasons for the above-referenced protections, not the least of which
is to maintain the confidentiality of attorney-client communications, to protect the privacy
of individuals, and to preserve a unit owner’s dignity. Such protections are lost because
the majority ruled not only that any recording of what transpired in the above categories of
meetings are “minutes”, but “[t]he Act requires the board to maintain minutes recording
board actions at every meeting, including closed meetings” (emphasis added). (A-23).
Such ruling necessarily destroys the attorney-client privilege, as Section 18(a)(9)(A)
expressly permits consultation with legal counsel to be conducted behind closed doors.
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Should boards not only have maintain, but produce, minutes of such confidential meetings
– minutes which Section 19(a)(4) requires be made available to requesting unit owners –
the attorney-client privilege will be lost.
Point Three
Plaintiff sought damages for alleged breach of fiduciary duty against all Defendants
arising from what he contended was an unfair or improper violations hearing that resulted
in fines against him. The trial court – after first dismissing the Association from Count III
(see Point Seven, below) – later awarded summary judgment in the remaining Defendants’
favor. In reversing the trial court’s summary judgment ruling, the majority elevates the
due process requirements of a violations hearing to an unrecognizable level, thereby
effectively rendering the provisions of Section 18.4(l) a nullity.
This Section of the Act, wherein the “Powers and duties of board of managers”
(emphasis added) are enumerated, mandates that board members levy reasonable fines for
violation of the declaration, by-laws, and rules and regulations of the association “after
notice and an opportunity to be heard.” Plaintiff’s behavior – detailed in the Statement of
Facts below – cries out for the imposition of such fines. Had the legislature intended for
these administrative-type hearings conducted by volunteer, unpaid fellow residents of
condominium associations to require, among other things, that all evidence against the
responding unit owner be produced to him, it could, should, and would have said so.
The majority’s decision is extrapolated from its misreading of several cases and
disregards a cornerstone of this State’s mandatory precedent regarding due process. See,
e.g., People ex rel. Birkett v. Konetski, 233 Ill. 2d 185, 201 (2009) (fundamental due
process requires only “notice of the proceeding and an opportunity to present any
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objections”). Moreover, the majority relies most heavily on Congress Street Condominium
Ass’n v. Anderson, 112 A. 3d 196 (Conn. Ct. App. 2015), for the proposition that a
condominium association fails to properly assess fines upon a unit owner where “the
association failed to provide the unit owner with an opportunity to be heard in a fair
manner”. (A-15). There, however, the association had failed altogether to give Anderson
any hearing in contravention of that association’s declaration.

The balance of the

majority’s notion of due process is based on cases outside the condominium setting and
that do not include, as here, a statute that expressly states what due process entails: “notice
and an opportunity to be heard”, both of which were herein supplied by the Defendants.
As the dissent duly points out (A-31):
because condominium associations are self-governed and because an
association’s declaration approved by unit owners is presumptively valid,
courts should refrain from undertaking the task of resolving intramural
disputes (which arise quite frequently in such organizations) between a unit
owner and the board when the unit owner does not claim the association
violated its own rules of procedure. In other words, if the unit owner does
not allege a violation of the process for assessing a fine or penalty, a court
should decline to become involved in determining whether grounds for the
penalty existed. Indeed, were courts required to referee internal disputes
that arise in condominium associations, they would have time for little else.
Elevating due process rights to those the majority now finds required would task
volunteer board members with far more than is reasonably (or statutorily) to be expected
of them and would deter mandated enforcement of violations of their governing documents
as required by Section 18.4(l) of the Act. Inasmuch as “[t]he Condominium Property Act
comprehensively regulates the creation and operation of Illinois condominium
associations” (emphasis added), Apple II Condominium Ass’n v. Worth Bank & Trust Co.,
277 Ill. App. 3d 345, 348 (1st Dist. 1995), it was improper for the majority to interject and
elevate practically to Sixth Amendment levels the rights to which accused violators of
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governing documents are entitled. See, too, the Historical and Practice Notes to 765 ILCS
605/18.4, Levin, Ellis B. (2000), pp. 108-109 (“the decision of a condominium board with
respect to fines under Section 18.4(h) should not be subject to judicial review unless there
is a failure to exercise its authority consistently with the condominium rules or when the
association’s conduct violates basic due process”).
Point Four
Also in conjunction with its reversal of the award of summary judgment as to Count
III of the Complaint, the majority confuses the gist of the evidence put before the trial court
on summary judgment with the process by which the Board came to fine Plaintiff. (A-16).
In particular, the majority determined that, because the Board failed to provide Plaintiff
with complaints detailing prior acts of misconduct that the Board might consider in
weighing the current complaints and Plaintiff’s refutation thereof, it had failed to meet the
minimal due process requirements of Section 18.4(l) of the Act.
There were two incidents, and two incidents alone, for which Plaintiff was fined by
the Board: the first involved Plaintiff’s abusive encounter with an employee in an elevator
(the “elevator incident”) and the second arose from his profane and abusive interactions
with property management staff arising from property management enforcement of its “no
cash” policy (the “key fob incident”). That the Board considered Plaintiff’s propensity for
truth and the likelihood that these incidents occurred against a backdrop of Plaintiff’s prior
and extensive bad acts does not mean, as the majority mistakenly concludes, that the Board
failed to give Plaintiff notice of all the charges they intended to consider in connection with
possible discipline. (A-17). In so holding, the majority effectively deprives a Board of its
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discretionary and statutory powers, as well as the members’ individual abilities to consider
what they know of a person in weighing the evidence.
This jurisdiction has long been of the mind that “the Condominium Property Act is
designed to encourage associations to be self-governing and that it is the members
themselves who are in the best position to make determinations regarding restrictions.”
Apple II Condominium Ass’n v. Worth Bank & Trust Co., supra, 277 Ill. App. 3d at 350.
Indeed, like most condominium associations, this Association’s Amended and Restated
Declaration of Condominium Ownership for 111 East Chestnut Condominium expressly
provides, in its paragraph 6, that:
Board’s Determination Binding. In the event of a dispute or disagreement
between any Unit Owners relating to the Property, or any questions or
interpretation or application of the provisions of the Declaration or ByLaws, the determination thereof by the Board shall be final and binding on
each and all such Unit Owners. [R. C00150].
If left to stand, the majority’s Opinion will enfeeble boards to the point where even
good boards, such as that comprised of Defendants herein – who provided notice and an
opportunity to be heard, and who reviewed and considered the material provided – may
shirk from the statutorily mandated enforcement of its governing documents to enforce rule
violations. That, in turn, puts board members at risk of lawsuit by unit owners and others
to whom the association owes duties to enforce the declaration and rules. (Dissent, A-28).
All association members who choose to live in condominiums because their governing
documents in essence dictate an enforceable code of conduct will be the losers, and
demonstrated bullies like Plaintiff will be the winners.

-7-

Point Five
The business judgment rule is a vital protection for responsible board members, as
here. Without it, an association’s ability to encourage voluntary participation in the timeconsuming, but critically important, task of association governance would be thwarted.
Nonetheless, the majority, below, deemed there to be genuine issues of material fact over
the availability of the business judgment rule to Defendants because they “withheld” from
Plaintiff “evidence” relating to the two incidents on which the violations hearing was
conducted, in particular: a videotape of Plaintiff’s abusive encounter with an employee in
the elevator incident and the property management complaints arising from the key fob
incident, “thereby depriving themselves of readily available information as to how Boucher
would respond to the evidence”. (A-17). This determination is contrary to the well
established law of this jurisdiction.
For example, in Wolinsky v. Kadison, 2013 IL App (1st) 111186, P62, the court
explained what courts in this jurisdiction have long held, that:
[t]he purpose of the business judgment rule is to protect directors from
liability for honest mistakes in judgment. [Citation]. When the board
properly exercises its business judgment, the court will not find the board’s
interpretation a breach of fiduciary duty. [Citation]. Absent evidence of bad
faith, fraud, illegality, or gross overreaching, the courts will not interfere
with the exercise of business judgment by corporate directors.
The majority’s Opinion also disregards the fact that Plaintiff had readily
acknowledged under oath having understood the charges against him, readily
acknowledged having used profanity in the property management office, and that his
attorney addressed the Board for some 20 minutes at his violations hearing to present his
side of the story, during which Plaintiff opted to remain silent. (R. C00457-460).
“Circumstances like these are precisely why the Board’s decisions are protected by the
-8-

business judgment rule”, dissent (A-28 and 29), citing Feliciano v. Geneva Terrace Estates
Homeowners Ass’n, 2012 IL App (1st) 110620, P63.

Indeed, the majority Opinion

disregarded that the Defendants herein made their decision to withhold the videotape in
reliance on advice of counsel – an established defense to a claim of breach of fiduciary
duty in any event. See Feliciano v. Geneva Terrace Estates Homeowners Ass’n, supra,
2014 IL App (1st) 130269, P39; and Goldberg v. Astor Plaza Condo. Ass’n, supra, 2012 IL
App (1st) 110620, P64.
Point Six
This Court has ruled previously that an exculpatory clause in a declaration is
enforceable and does not violate public policy. Kelley v. Astor Investors, Inc., 106 Ill. 2d
505, 510 (1985). The majority below, however, effectively strips the protections afforded
by the exculpation provision found in an association’s declaration by again focusing on the
notion that members of the Board may have breached their fiduciary duties by not having
provided “material information” to Plaintiff. (A-18).
In so concluding, and as noted in the foregoing Section, the majority disregarded
the reliance on advice of counsel by Defendants herein. Feliciano v. Geneva Terrace
Estates Homeowners Ass’n, supra, 2014 IL App (1st) 130269, P39; and Goldberg v. Astor
Plaza Condo. Ass’n, supra, 2012 IL App (1st) 110620, P64. The majority’s reliance on
Sherman v. Ryan, 392 Ill. App. 3d 712 (1st Dist. 2009) is also misplaced. Relying on a
Delaware statute, and Delaware law interpreting that statute, the Court therein affirmed the
trial court’s dismissal of the shareholders’ claims against the directors, finding – among
other things – that the exculpation provision protected against director liability even where
the directors knew that the corporation was collecting contingent commissions, but the
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complaint contained nothing but conclusory allegations that the directors knew such
arrangements were illegal. 392 Ill. App. 3d at 731.
Even more compellingly here, the Defendants not only fully satisfied the
requirements of the Act, and engaged in no conduct that was illegal, but indeed sought out
and relied on advice of counsel. Accordingly, the conduct of Defendants herein, as
established by uncontested evidence, fell squarely within the protections of the
Declaration’s exculpation provision.
Point Seven
Section 18.4 of the Act provides, among other things, that “[i]n the performance of
their duties, the officers and members of the board * * * shall exercise the care required of
a fiduciary of the unit owners.” (Emphasis added). Application of the principle expressio
unius est exclusio alterius thereto means that this statute’s expression of one thing (that it
is the officers and members of the board who owe a fiduciary duty) is to the exclusion of
the other, namely, of associations themselves having a fiduciary duty.
Such interpretation would be in accordance with the law of this and sister
jurisdictions, but conflicts with the majority Opinion (A-19 and 20). Small v. Sussman,
306 Ill. App.3d 639, 645 (1st Dist. 1999), for example, holds that corporations themselves
do not owe fiduciary duties to their shareholders. See, too, Onex Food Servs. v. Grieser,
1996 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 2797, *23-24 (S.D.N.Y. 1996); In re Stillwater Capital Partners
Inc. Litig., 851 F. Supp. 2d 556, 573 (S.D.N.Y. 2012) (“[a] corporation does not owe a
fiduciary duty to its shareholders”, dismissing claims for breach of fiduciary duty brought
against the corporation); A.W. Fin. Servs., S.A. v. Empire Res., Inc., 981 A. 2d 1114, 1127
(Del. 2009) (“[c]learly the issuing corporation, Empire, is not a fiduciary to the plaintiff,
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which is its stockholder”); and ULQ, LLC v. Meder, 293 Ga. App. 176, 181 (Ga. Ct. App.
2008) (“a corporation owes no fiduciary duty to its shareholders”, and its collection of other
states’ cases cited thereat that hold accordingly).
The majority’s reliance on Goldberg v. Astor Plaza Condominium Ass’n and
Wolinsky v. Kadison for the proposition that associations themselves owe fiduciary duties
is misplaced. Goldberg, in point of fact, explains that it is the “individual members of the
board of a condominium association [who] owe a fiduciary duty to the unit owners.”
(Emphasis added). 2012 IL App (1st) 110620, P62.

As for the Wolinsky case, and as

explained in Robinson v. LaCasa Grande Condominium Ass’n, 204 Ill. App. 3d 853, 860
(4th Dist. 1990): “[i]n 1984, the year following Wolinsky, the State legislature amended the
Condominium Act, adding the clause within section 18.4 (previously quoted) which sets
forth the board of managers’ duty of care. Pub. Act 83 - 833, § 1, eff. July 1, 1984 (1983
Ill. Laws 5424); see Ill. Rev. Stat. 1985, ch. 30, par. 318.4.” In other words, the ruling in
Wolinsky was addressed to the common-law fiduciary duty of board members that was then
in existence, as opposed to interpreting the statutory language of Section 18.4, which was
enacted subsequent to the Wolinsky decision.
Point Eight
The majority focuses repeatedly in its Opinion on the notion that condominium
board members have “unrestricted”, “unfettered” and “unlimited” access to the homes of
the association’s owners and residents. (A-22 and 23). This inflammatory notion of
omnipotence, however, actually conflicts with the narrowly drawn rights of access
expressly created under the Act, namely, that board members may have access to each unit
only “from time to time as may be necessary for the maintenance, repair or replacement of
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any common elements or for making emergency repairs necessary to prevent damages to
the common elements or to other units.” 765 ILCS 605/18.4(j). The majority uses this
mistaken breadth of power to conflate the duties of these fictitiously all-powerful board
members to require of them their protection, as opposed to their penalization, of association
members who are “consistently rude, arrogant, and obnoxious.” (A-22). This turns the
duty of the Board to levy reasonable fines against such violators, after notice and an
opportunity to be heard, on its head, contra 765 ILCS 605/18.4(l), and subjects the Board
members to liability to those affected by the rule-breakers.
Point Nine
Finally, the affirmative defenses filed by the Defendants herein included not only
allegations detailing Plaintiff’s long history of offensive and harassing behavior within the
Association and the risks to which such conduct put the Association and/or its property
management company, but even went so far as to attach exhibits further detailing Plaintiff’s
abusive and non-governing-document-conforming behavior within the Association. (R.
C000421-439). Plaintiff filed no reply thereto.
Illinois courts have long held that, “where new matter by way of a defense is
pleaded in an answer a reply is necessary, and a failure to reply operates as an admission
of the truth of such new matter.” Schiff v. Schiff, 25 Ill. App. 2d 157, 165 (1st Dist. 1962).
Defendants expressly preserved their right to rely on this defense by pleading evidence
thereafter only and expressly in the alternative. (R. C000461). The long litany of Plaintiff’s
acts of misconduct contained in the unanswered affirmative defenses, then, properly should
have been deemed admitted by the Court and, ipso facto, supported the Board’s decision
to fine Plaintiff, thereby properly militating against any finding of breach of fiduciary duty.
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IV.

STATEMENT OF FACTS
A.

Plaintiff’s History at the Association

Plaintiff

was

an

owner

and

part-time

resident

of

the

Association

Building. (R. C00130). While living there, Plaintiff had engaged in conduct that had led
to his having been censured by the board of directors, reprimanded by the property
managers, and which resulted in complaints filed for sexual harassment.
Among other things, Plaintiff admitted to having called the female African
American doorperson, Genine Campbell, a “cocky bitch” in the Association’s lobby,
within Ms. Campbell’s earshot (R. C000441-442). As a result of this outburst, the thenpresident of the Board censured Plaintiff. (Id., C000844). Plaintiff did not deny, but rather,
“couldn’t remember,” if he had inquired of a male doorperson if he was “sexing the big
girl” [in reference to Ms. Campbell]. (Id., C000450-452, passim).
Plaintiff would also use racist rhetoric like “ghetto dog” when referring to African
American unit owners. (Id., R.C000469); Plaintiff would call female employees
“bitches”. (R. C000467, 469); and he referred to the Board president of Italian heritage as
a “Dago”, even during a Board meeting. (Id., C000469). During another Board meeting,
Plaintiff exposed his scrotum via his open fly (id., C000380a) 1 and had also flashed his
upper body at a female property manager, remarking on his “deliberators”. (Id., C000476).
Plaintiff admitted to bragging at a Board meeting about how much money he spent
a night in strip clubs. (R. C000475) and accused the building engineer – who has
Parkinson’s tremors – of being an alcoholic. (Id., C000477). Plaintiff’s explanation for
his behavior is that he is “aggressive with everyone. My nature.” (Id., C000453).

1

This page of the Record falls between pages 380 and 381, but bears no bates number.
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Two of the above incidents had resulted in the filing of sexual harassment
complaints

against

the

Association’s

property

management

company.

(R.

C000468). Those and other incidents had also resulted in Plaintiff’s previously having
been warned about his offensive and abusive behavior, including through:
a.

A letter to him dated September 17, 2009 from Steven P. Hanna, Assistant
Vice President of then-Draper and Kramer, the Association’s management
company, which such letter referenced a female property manager’s
complaint that Plaintiff had lifted his shirt, exposing his upper body, and
referring to his “deliberators”; as well as complaints by residents and
employees that, on numerous occasions [Plaintiff had] used offensive
language in the course of conversations with residents and employees of the
Association.” (R.C000483-484; A201-202); and
b. A letter to him dated September 20, 2011 from Tom Taylor, Vice President
of DKCondo, reporting that several owners and Association employees had
expressed serious concern about Plaintiff’s “demeaning, insulting and
disrespectful” comments to them. (R. C000485; A203).

Plaintiff found such admonitions about his behavior comical and laughed about
them in conversation with at least one of the Defendants. (R. C000491).
B.

The Events Giving Rise to the Violation Notices Against Plaintiff and
the Hearing Thereon

Despite having long been put on notice of the unacceptability of his conduct as
detailed above, Plaintiff engaged in yet another dispute with Ms. Campbell, one of the
African-American doorpersons, this time, in one of the Association’s elevators. The
dispute was captured on the elevator’s non-audio video camera (the “Elevator
Incident”). One of the Board members who reviewed the video of the Elevator Incident
attested that she could “almost see the spit coming out of [Plaintiff’s] mouth, he was so
furious with [Ms. Campbell], pointing at her” and that “you can just see him completely
explode, his face, his body movements.” (R. C000490).
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Shortly thereafter, Plaintiff engaged in a loud dispute with female property
management personnel in the Association office over their policy of not accepting cash
payments, using profanity in his objections to this policy (the “Management Office
Dispute”) (R. C000445). Said Dispute was described similarly in two written summaries
by two different property management employees. (Id., C000275-276).
Although Plaintiff admitted that profanity is unacceptable in a work setting, and
that he had indeed used the word “sh*t” when arguing with the property management
personnel, Plaintiff denied that the word “sh*t” is a “four-letter word” or that it constitutes
profanity. (R. C000447-448).
Through its attorneys, the Association sent Plaintiff two separate written notices
detailing his offensive and obnoxious activity in violation of Section 23 of the
Association’s Declaration: one regarding the above-referenced Elevator Incident and the
other regarding the Management Office Dispute. (R. C0000147-148). Both such written
notices provided Plaintiff with an opportunity to be heard. (Id.). Plaintiff admitted both to
having received the two notices and to having understood the nature of the charges the
Association had brought against him therein. (Id., C000164-165).
Plaintiff availed himself of the opportunity to be heard on the charges, requesting
and receiving a confidential, closed-door hearing before members of the Association’s
Board of Directors on October 4, 2013. (R. C00457-460). He attended the hearing with
his attorney, Norman J. Lerum. (Id.). Plaintiff remained silent at the hearing while his
attorney addressed the Board members on his behalf. (Id.).
Following the hearing, the Defendants deliberated over the charges and
unanimously decided to fine Plaintiff for the two above-referenced violations of the
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Association’s Declaration in the amount of $250 per violation. (R. C000478-479). In the
words of one of the members of the Board of Directors, the Association opted to fine
Plaintiff because it wanted “a building where residents feel welcomed and they are
comfortable and they love living here * * * and we want to treat one another with respect
most of all. * * * [W]hen you come to a point that you fine somebody * * * there has to be
already quite a number of * * * escalations . . . [a]nd we pay attention to that. We don’t
just fine someone because it’s their first incident of some kind of event.” (Id., C000503).
The deliberations and decision to fine Plaintiff were kept confidential by the
Association and its Board members (R. C000479-480), although Plaintiff had apparently
notified others of the pendency of his violations hearing, because the Board had to shoo
away two acquaintances of Plaintiff’s who were visible on the other side of the door to the
hearing room. (Id., C000481-482).
Although Plaintiff claimed to have been “forced” from the Association building
due to the supposed embarrassment he had suffered as a result of the outcome of the
confidential disciplinary hearing, in fact, his wife had never liked living in the Association
Building and had been pressuring him to move for some time prior to the disciplinary
hearing. (R. C000493-494).
C.
The

The Recording of Plaintiff’s Violation Hearing
Board

of

Directors

videotaped

the

closed-door

violation

hearing. (R. C000023). Plaintiff asked for a copy of this videotape through his counsel
after the hearing was over, which such request the Association denied through its
counsel. (Id., C000024). This lawsuit ensued.
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D.

The Procedural History of this Lawsuit

Plaintiff filed the Corrected Amended Complaint upon which the claims that are
the subject of this litigation were based on July 1, 2014 (R. C000111). In it, Plaintiff
claimed a violation of a First Amendment right to free speech (Count I); a violation of
Section 19 of the Act due to the denial of Plaintiff’s request for a copy of the videotape
that recorded the violations hearing (Count II), and a breach of fiduciary duty by all
Defendants resulting in Plaintiff’s purported emotional distress, public humiliation, and
the like. (Count III). (Id., C000129-158, passim).
Defendants filed a motion to dismiss the Amended Complaint pursuant to 735 ILCS
5/2-615. (R. C000159). The trial court granted the Motion in part and denied it in part by
order dated October 15, 2014 (R. C000191); the trial court granted the Motion as to Count
I in its entirety (regarding the purported First Amendment violation that Defendants’
issuance of the fine constituted) and as to the Association Defendant in Count III (for
breach of fiduciary duty), denying the balance of the Motion. (Id.).
Following written discovery and numerous depositions, the parties filed crossmotions for summary judgment. (R. C000379; and C000657-667). After oral argument
thereon (id., C5000049-000135), the Court granted the Defendants’ motion for summary
judgment and denied the Plaintiff’s motion for summary judgment. (Id., C000850851). Plaintiff then filed this appeal, resulting in the 2-1 Opinion detailed above in Section
III.
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V.

ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF SUPREME COURT REVIEW
A.

Importance of the Questions Presented

Serving as a member of a condominium association board is largely a thankless job:
the hours are long and unpaid, and members are called upon to make decisions about
everything from engineering through holiday decorations through governing-document
interpretation. They will be criticized regardless of the decision they render – and worse,
may end up as defendants in a lawsuit. The majority decision, if allowed to stand, will
make the already monumental task of recruiting competent board members even more
difficult by effectively gutting the protections of both the business judgment rule and the
ubiquitous exculpation provisions found in condominium declarations. Not only does the
majority Opinion divest boards of their statutorily and contractually sanctioned discretion,
but it effectively arms noncompliant association members with a roadmap for gaming the
system.
As detailed in the Points enumerated above, the majority Opinion effectively
nullifies or untenably alters statutory mandates and protections found in Sections
18(a)(9)(A), 18.4, generally, and particularly as to 18.4(l), and 19. The majority Opinion
thus imperils a cornerstone of the law – the attorney-client privilege – by mandating that
closed-door meetings, including those at which litigation is discussed, require minutes.
Since minutes must be produced upon request under Section 19 of the Act, the
confidentiality upon which the attorney-client privilege depends would be waived.
Additionally, this Court “has held that the condition of a circuit court’s docket is a
matter of which a court can properly take judicial notice.” Bland v. Norfolk & W. Ry. Co.,
116 Ill. 2d 217, 230 (1987). As the dissent warns strenuously and presciently, “were courts
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required to referee internal disputes that arise in condominium associations, they would
have time for little else.” (A-31).
B.

Existence of a Conflict With Prior Decisions of this Court

It is respectfully submitted, too, that aspects of the majority Opinion conflict with
prior decisions of this Court.

For one thing, the majority’s determination that a

condominium member’s complaints about association management constitutes protected
speech – even through there is no state entity implicated – runs afoul of this Court’s
Opinion in People v. DiGuida, 152 Ill. 2d 104, 124 (1992) (“State action is required to
bring into play the free speech protections of the constitution”).
It further disregards People ex rel. Birkett v. Konetski, 233 Ill. 2d 185 (2009), supra,
which stands for the proposition that fundamental due process requires only “notice of the
proceeding and an opportunity to present any objections” – as mandated by Section 18.4(l)
of the Act in the context of board members’ imposing fines for violations of governing
documents.
Finally, the majority’s interpretation of the exculpation provision in the
Association’s Declaration effectively guts this Court’s decision in Kelley v. Astor Investors,
Inc., 106 Ill. 2d 505 (1985), supra, wherein this Court found that exculpation provisions
are enforceable and do not violate public policy (contra A-18 and 19).
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VI.

CONCLUSION
As the dissent observes so keenly, “condominium associations, like some

democracies, can be utterly dysfunctional. This is particularly true when one association
member decides that the [declaration] to which he agreed to be bound when he voluntarily
became a member of the association simply does not apply to him.” (A-24). If the majority
Opinion stands, such dysfunctionality will be exacerbated through empowerment of the
wrongdoer, as detailed above, the attorney-client privilege in the condominium setting will
suffer a fatal blow, and competent board members will be even harder to come by. For
these and all of the other reasons cited herein, the Defendants–Petitioners respectfully
request that this Honorable Court grant their Petition for Leave to Appeal.
Respectfully submitted,
111 EAST CHESTNUT CONDOMINIUM
ASSOCIATION, INC., ANTHONY MILAZZO,
MIKE FISH, SERAP BUSH, and GLENN
GREENE

By: /s/ Diane J. Silverberg
Diane J. Silverberg
Their attorney
KOVITZ SHIFRIN NESBIT
55 W. Monroe Street, Suite 2445
Chicago, IL 60603
(847) 777-7255
(847) 777-7369 (facsimile)
dsilverberg@ksnlaw.com
ARDC #6194968
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ILLINOIS SUPREME COURT RULE 341(c) CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE
I hereby certify that this Petition conforms to the requirements of Rules 341(a) and
(b). The length of this Petition, excluding the Rule 341(d) cover, this Rule 341(c) certificate
of compliance, the certificate of service, and those matters to be appended to the brief under
Rule 342(a), is 20 pages.

/s/ Diane J. Silverberg
Diane J. Silverberg
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OPINIO

After a condominium association imposed fines on urut owner Michael Boucher Boucher
filed a complaint alleging that i board members iolated the Condominium Property Act
(Act) (765 ILCS 605/ l et seq. (West 2012)) by penalizing him for expressing his opinions
about condominium management ii) board members violated the Act by refusing Boucher's
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request for a copy of the recording of the meeting at which the board considered misconduct
charges brought against Boucher, and (iii) the condominium association and the board
members violated their fiduciary duties by withholding from Boucher evidence brought
against him.
We hold that Boucher adequately alleged that the board members violated the Act when
they penalized him for expressing his opinion about building management; Boucher
presented evidence that could support a finding that the board members violated the Act
when they denied his request for the recording of the disciplinary hearing; and Boucher
presented evidence that could support a finding that the association and the board members
breacbed their fiduciary duties when they failed to disclose to Boucher the evidence against
him. Boucher did not answer three defendants who said they did not take part in the decision
to deny his request for the video recording of the disciplinary hearing. Accordingly, we
reverse the trial court's judgment and remand for further proceedings, except that we affirm
the order granting summary judgment in favor of the three defendants who did not participate
in the decision to withhold the recording of the hearing.
BACKGROUND
On August 23, 2013, the attorneys for the 111 East Chestnut Condominium Association
(association) sent a letter to Boucher, a resident and owner of a unit in the 111 East Chestnut
Condominium building, informing him that an employee of the association said that when
she tried to get on an elevator with Boucher, Boucher ' yelled profanities at the employee and
demanded that she get off the elevator." Five days later, the same attorneys sent Boucher a
second letter, informing him that another employee of the association said that when Boucher

2
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'requested a replacement (key] card, [he] used profanity and demanded that [he] pay cash for
the replacement card, even though it was explained to (him] multiple times that the office
does not accept cash payments. [His] behavior was described by witnesses as being rude and
disrespectful.'' In both notices, the attorneys told Boucher his behavior violated the
'Association' s Declaration which specifically prohibits obnoxious or offensive activity from
being carried on in any unit or in the common elements.''
, 5

Boucher requested a hearing on the accusations. The board held the bearing on October 4,
2013 . Boucher attended the hearing with his attorney and gave an account of what happened
in the elevator incident and in the key card incident. At the hearing, Boucher's attorney asked
to review

'all underlying evidence

infonuation, and/or documents relating to the

allegations." The board denied the request. Immediate.ly after the meeting, Boucher's
attorney sent to the association s attorney a letter, formally requesting "a copy of the video
and audio tape which recorded the October 4, 2013 bearing. The association' s attorney
responded with a letter ent to Boucher and the board denying the request for the recording.
Boucher s attorney responded with a second request for the recording and for the evidence
against Boucher.
6

The property manager sent Boucher a Jetter informing him that "the Board has
detennined that a fine penalty in lhe amount of $250 per complaint for a total of $500
[would] be applied to [his] accouot." Boucher paid the fine, but in November 2013, he filed a
complaint naming as defendants the association and all seven members of the board. He
alleged in couat I that he had 'expressed criticism of certain management practices and about
the perfonnance of certain management employees over issues relating to

3
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the building swimming pool, security practices *** [and] the practice of imposing arbitrary
fines on unit owners" and that the board "penalized the plaintiff in retaliation for expressing
his opinions*** about management practices" in violation of section 18.4(h) of the Act. 765
ILCS 605/18.4(h) (West 2012). Section 18.4(h) bars condominium boards from adopting
rules that "impair any rights guaranteed by the First Amendment to the Constitution of the
United States." 765 ILCS 605/18.4(h) (West 2012). In count II, Boucher alleged that the
denial of his request for the video and audio recording of the October 4 meeting violated
section l 9(b) of the Act, which requires boards to make "minutes of all meetings" available
to all members of the association. 765 ILCS 605/19(b) (West 2012). Count III rested on a
charge that the defendants breached their fiduciary duties when they concealed from Boucher
the evidence used against him.
Defendants filed a motion to dismiss the complaint for failure to state a cause of action.
735 ILCS 5/2-615 (West 2012). The circuit court granted the motion in part, dismissing
count I "because there's no state action or government acting." The court also dismissed the
association from count III because "a corporation

***

cannot be held to have breach[ed]

fiduciary duties."
Defendants filed their answer to counts II and III, and the parties engaged in discovery.
Boucher and all of the board members but one sat for their depositions. Boucher filed a
motion to compel the final board member, Cheryl Jansen, to appear for a deposition. The
circuit court denied the motion to compel.
All parties filed motions for summary judgment. Defendants sought judgment on count II
on grounds that the video recording of the October 4 meeting did not constitute "minutes,"

4
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and therefore the decision to deny Boucher' s request for the video did not violate section 19
of the Act For count 111 the defendants explained in detail how thoroughly Boucher
deserved the fines for obnoxious and offensive activity . Some of the defendants, in their
depositions testified that apart from the elevator incident and the key card incident, Boucher
had in the past used se ist, racist and scatological language; insulted employees· and
"exposed his scrotum to people in a Board meeting. ' One of the board members testified that
the board took into account the prior incidents when deciding to fine Boucher. Defendants
also argued that the business judgment rule and the condominium declaration protected them

from liability.

IO

The circuit court granted defendants summary judgment on counts U and III of the
complaint. Boucher now appeals.

1 11
12

ANALYSIS
We review de novo the dismissal of count III against the association and count I for

failure to state a claim for relief. Marshall v. Burger Klng Corp .. 222 Ill. 2d 422, 429 (2006).
We also revi w de novo the order granting defendants' motion for summary judgment on
counts II and III. Lake County Grading o. v, Village ofAntioch, 2014 IL 115805 118.
}.)

14

Section 18.4(h)
The circuit court held that count I which aUeged a violation of section 18.4(h) of the Act,
failed to state a claim for relief because onJy state action can violate the first amendment, and
the association did not qualify as a stale actor. The circuit court interpreted the statutory

phrase 'right guaranteed by the First Amendment to the Constitution of tbe United States"
to refer not to freedom of r ligion freed m of speech and ' the right of the people peaceably

5
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to assemble" (U.S. Const., amend. I), but rather as a reference to the right to bar Congress
from making a law abridging freedom of religion, freedom of speech, and the right to
assemble. Thus, on the circuit court' s interpretation of section 18.4(h), the section applies
only when a government actor, like a municipality, controls the board of directors for a
condominium. See City of Chicago v. Groffman, 68 Ill. 2d 112, 120-24 (1977). The circuit
court' s interpretation raises the question: did the legislature adopt section I8.4(h) to stave off
the threat of municipalities and other governmental entities buying condominium buildings
so that they could install a board that would prevent the residents of those buildings from
expressing political opinions?

1 15

We look to the legislative history. In support of the provision, Senator Silverstein
explained that, under section l 8.4(h),
"a board of managers of condo property may not institute any rules or
regulations that will prohibit

***

reasonable accommodation for religious

practices, including the attachment of religious objects on the
a condominium unit.

***

*** door posts of

[T]wo condominium associations

***

prohibited

Jewish residents from putting a mezuzah [on their door posts)." 94th Ill. Gen.
Assem., Senate Bill 2165, 2006 Sess., Transcript Senate 2/22/2006 at 19.

1 16

According to the 2000 version of the Historical and Practice Notes for section 18.4(h):
"[A] board of managers could not prohibit unit owners or their tenants from
knocking on neighbors doors for purposes of political campaigning.

***

[The

guarantee of constitutional rights was inserted] in response to boards who were

6
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attempting to severely restrict first amendroent activity of owners and occupants,
especially political activity. This limitation is modeled on provisions in the
Florida Condominiwn Act.' 765 ILCS AM. 605/18.4 Historical and Practice
Notes at 109 (Smith-Hurd Supp. 2000) .
17

The Florida Condominium Act pro ided, 'No entity or entities shall unreasonably restrict
any unit owner's right to peaceably assemble or right to invite public officers or candidates
for public office to appear and speak in common elements, common areas and recreational
facilities. ' Fla. Stat. § 718.123 ( 1983).

1 18

The circuit court's interpretation of section 18.4(h) ensures that the section would not
apply in the situations specified in the legislative history. Any private condominium
association could forbid any political activity and any religious display in the condominium
because the private condominium association would not count as a state actor. We must not
interpret statutes in a manner that makes them meaningless. Niven . Siqueira, 109 Ill. 2d
357,365 1985)· Cummings v. City o/Waferloo, 289 Ill. App. 3d 474, 480 (1997). We must
interpret statutes in light of the problems the legislature intended to address. ln re Annexation

of Territory to the City of Park Ridge, 260

m. App. 3d 384, 389 (1994). We hold that section

18.4(h) "forbids a board from ' impair[ing] any rights guaranteed by the First Amendment'
not from violating the Amendment jtself. Goldberg v. 400 East Ohio Condominium Ass 'n

12 F. Supp. 2d 820,824 (N.D. Ill. 1998) (quoting 765 ILCS 605/18.4(h) (West 1998)). Under
section 18.4(h) condominium boards must not adopt or enforce any rules that prohibit the
free exercise of religion. abridge the freedom of speech, or abridge the right to peaceably
assemble. See

. . Const., amend. I.

7
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Defendants argue that this court should affirm the dismissal of count I because the
association cited part of the condominium declaration, and not a document titled "rules," as
the basis for its sanctions against Boucher. To state a cause of action for violation of first
amendment right to free speech, a plaintiff must allege only a violation of the right to
freedom of speech committed by a person acting under color of state law. West v. Atkins, 487
U.S. 42, 48 (1988). Although the first amendment says "Congress shall make no law ***
abridging the freedom of speech" (U.S . Const., amend. I), plaintiffs need not prove the
enactment of laws abridging their rights. Thus, in Cooper v. Pate, 378 U.S. 546 (1964), the
Supreme Court reversed a Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit decision and held that the
plaintiff stated a cause of action for violation of his right to exercise his religion, even though
he cited no law or rule that the defendant purported to enforce. See Cooper v. Pate, 324 F.2d
165 (7th Cir. 1963); see also West, 487 U.S. at 48 .

, 20

Looking again to the legislative history, we conclude that a plaintiff can state a statutory
cause of action against a condominium association by alleging that he put up an unobtrusive
religious symbol on his door as an expression of his religion and the association told him to
take it down. The association may have violated the plaintiffs rights, even if it never adopted
any pertinent rule, regulation, or declaration. Similarly, a plaintiff states a cause of action
against an association for violation of his right to free speech by alleging that the association
precluded him from expressing his political opinion or that the association penalized him for
expressing his opinions.

1 21

Boucher alleged that the association and its directors fined him because he expressed his
opinions criticizing the board' s management of the condominium. We hold that he has
8
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adequately stated a cause of action for violation of section 18.4(h) of the Act. Accordingly,
we reverse the dismissal of count I.

1 22
23

ection 19

In count JI, Boucher sought to state a cause of action for violation of section J9 of the
Act Secuon 19 provides:
' a) The board of manager of every association shall keep and maintain the
following records*** :

***
4) minutes of all meetings of the association and its board of managers

*** [.]

***

(b) Any member of an association shalJ have the right to inspect, examine
and make copies of the records described in subdivision[]
ubsection (a) of this ection

***

(4 *** of

*"'* at any reasonable time or times[.]" 765

ILCS

605/ 19 (West 2012).
124

The defendants admit that they made a video and audio recording of the October 4
hearing. The Act defines a "Meeting of Board of Managers' as ' any gathering of a quorum
of members of the Board

*** held for the purpose of conducting board business. ' 765 lLCS

60S/2(w (West 2012). A quo1um. of board members attended the October 4 bearing, and,
because they invoke the business judgment rule to defend the acts taken at and as a

consequence of that hearing the defendants implicitly admit that in the hearing they
conducted board business. The business of the board incJudes hearing evidence concerning

9

DA-9

No. 1-16-2233

possible disciplinary actions against members, as part of the board's business of maintaining
civil relations between members and between members and association employees. See

Walker v. Briarwood Condo Ass 'n, 644 A.2d 634, 636 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 1994).
Thus, the October 4 hearing counted as a meeting of the board.

1 25

The Act required the board to keep and maintain minutes of the October 4 meeting. The
board points out that section 18(a)(9) of the Act required the board to permit members to
record open meetings, but no section required the board to permit Boucher to record the
closed meeting in which the board heard Boucher's position on the elevator incident and the
key card incident. See 765 ILCS 605/18(a)(9) (West 2012). The observation does not affect
the statutory mandate that the board must maintain its own minutes of the meeting. Section
19 requires minutes for "all meetings," with no exception for closed meetings. 765 ILCS
605/ l 9(a)(4) (West 2012).

1 26

The defendants contend that the video recording cannot count as minutes because the
recording is not written. They cite Black' s Law Dictionary, which, using the meaning of the .
term from Scots law, defines minutes as "[w]ritten forms for preserving evidence! ' Black' s
Law Dictionary (7th ed. 1999). Illinois coutts have held that minutes serve as evidence of a
board or agency' s actions. O 'Malley v. Village of Palos Park, 346 Ill. App. 3d 567, 581-82
(2004). The video and audio recording here serves as the only evidence of the board's acts at
the meeting, as the defendants have neither presented nor alleged that they maintained any
written record of the October 4 meeting. Because the board has met its statutory duty of
keeping and maintaining a record of the October 4 meeting only by making the video and
audio recording of that meeting, the recording counts as the minutes of the meeting. When a
10
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board has made a video and audio recording of its proceedings, the recording serves the
purpose of minutes, by preserving evidence of the board s actions. See O'Ma/Jey, 346 Ill.
App. 3d at 581-82.

,r 27

Defendants contend that despite the language of section 19, the statute cannot require the
production of minutes of the closed meeting to hear charges of misconduct because the
legislature must have intended such meetings to remain confidential. See 765 ILCS
605/18(a 9) (West 2012). But the Act unambiguously mandates that the board must
maintain minutes of all meetings, without exception, and grants members the right to inspect
and copy those minutes. 765 ILCS 605/ 19(a)(4) (West 20l2). Thus, even though disciplinary
proceedings may talce place in do ed meetings, the Act protects the right of all condominium
unit owners to know what kinds of allegation of misconduct have Jed to disciplinary
proceedings against members what evidence the board heard and relied on in such
proceedings, and what penalties lhe board impo ed for misconduct. Defendants ask us to
ignore the express language of section 19 so that the board can deprive unit owners of the
information about disciplinary proceedings that the owners most need. We reject defendants'
argument and instead apply the statute as written.

,r 28

Boucher has presented evidence that could support a finding that tbe board denied his
request for the minutes of the October 4 hearing. Accordingly. we reverse the circuit court's

order granting defendants' motion for

umroary judgment on count II of Boucher s

complaint.

,r 29

Three board m mbers- Ann Marie Del Monico, Chery) Jansen, and Asia Oajderowiczfiled a separate brief on appeal arguing that they should not bear liability for the decision not

11
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to give Boucher the recording of the meeting because they did not participate in that decision.
Boucher, in his briefs on appeal, has not responded to the argument, and he does not contest
the evidence they cite to show that they took no part in the decision. "Points not argued are
waived*** ." 111. S. Ct. R. 34l(h)(7) (eff. Feb.6.2013). Accordingly, we affirm the dismissal
of count II against Del Monico, Jansen, and Gajderowicz.

1 30
~

31

~

32

Fiduciary Duty
A. Duty to Disclose

The circuit court granted summary judgment in favor of the board members on count III,
and it dismissed count III as to the association for failure to state a claim for relief. Boucher
contends that he has presented evidence that could support a finding that the board members
breached their fiduciary duties when they refused to show him the evidence against him.

~

33

The Act establishes that the board members must "exercise the care required of a
:fiduciary of the unit owners." 765 ILCS 605/18.4 (West 2012). "Broadly worded
constitutional and statutory provisions necessarily have been given concrete meaning and
application by a process of case-by-case judicial decision in the common-law tradition."

Northwest Airlines, Inc. v. Transport Workers Union of America, 451 U.S. 77, 95 (1981).
Like somewhat imprecise language in other statutes, the phrase ''the care required of a
fiduciary" is " left open to development on a case by case basis." H.R. Rep. No. 95-595, as

reprinted in 1977 U.S.C.C.A.N. 5787; see also Brody v. Finch University of Health
Sciences/The Chicago Medical School, 298 Ill. App. 3d 146, 159 (1998) ("our legislature
intended that any gaps in the Consumer Fraud Act [(815 ILCS 505/1 et seq. (West 1998))] be

12
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supplied by judicial construction'). We look to Illinois common law of fiduciary duties to
help us flesh out the meaning of the Acl

134

'A fiduciary relationship exists where there is special confidence reposed in one who, in

equity and good conscience, is bow1d to act in good faith and with due regard to the interests
of the one repos1ng the confidence. lt exi ts where confidence is reposed on one side and
resulting superiority and influence is found on the other." Martin v. Heinold Commodities.

Inc. , 163 Ill. 2d 33, 45 ( 1994). The scope of the relationship defines the fiduciary' duties.
Crampton v. Crampton, 2017 [L App (3d) 160402

27; Graham v. Mimms, 111 ill. App. 3d

751 760-61 1982).

35

Directors of a condominium association owe fiduciary duties to unit owners similar to the
duties corporate directors owe to shareholders, insofar as the unit owners trust the directors to
use the owners money for rnaintenance repair and improvements to the building. See Duffy

v. Orlan Brook

ondominium Owners ' Ass 'n, 2012 IL App (1st) 113577,

~

18. Thew.lit

owners and residents also entrust the board to make decisions on behalf of all members of the
association conceroing the conduct of association members in and around their homes.
Association member must by statute permit the board to "have access to each unit" (765
JLCS 605/18.4(j

West 2012 ), a requirement usually met by rules providing that association

employee-s must have keys to every unit. When the condominium rules include such a
provision, the unit O\Vners trust the as ociatioo employees and the board members W1th
unlimited access to the owner ' and residents homes, which the employees and board
members can use without notice to the .

ners and residents, The high degree of trust the

members must accord to the association imposes on the directors very strict fiduciary duties
13
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particularly with respect to decisions concerning the unit owners' and residents' conduct in
their home. Janowiak v. Tiesi, 402 Ill. App. 3d 997, 1008-10 (20 I 0) (higher degree of trust in
fiduciary entails higher degree of fiduciary duties of loyalty and good faith).

,r 36

Thus, each board member here has strict duties to treat the unit owners "with the utmost
candor, rectitude, care, loyalty, and good faith- in fact to treat [them] as well as [he] would
treat himself." Burdett v. Miller, 957 F.2d 1375, 1381 (7th Cir. 1992). When investigating
charges of misconduct against a unit owner, the duty of candor imposes on the board
members an obligation "of full , fair, complete, and timely disclosure of material facts" (Han
v. Yang, 931 P.2d 604, 615 (Haw. 1997)) concerning all allegations against the owner that

may provide a basis for imposition of a penalty. A court may hold fiduciaries liable for
failure to disclose information to their principals. See Shaw v. Weisz, 339 Ill. App. 630
(1950).

,r 37

Boucher has presented evidence that the board refused to show him the complaint an
employee wrote concerning the key card incident. Boucher also presented evidence that the
board refused to show him the video recording of the elevator incident. The board' s refusals
could support a finding that the board members violated their fiduciary duty to disclose, and
in so doing, the board members ensured that they would not hear significant evidence before
deciding whether to fine Boucher. The board members did not hear Boucher's explanation of
what the video showed because they did not show him the video. The board members did not
hear Boucher' s response to the letter or the staff report because they refused to show him the
letters or the staff report.

14

A-14

No. 1-16-2233

,r 38

We find this case similar to Congress Street Condominium Ass 'n v. Anderson, 112 A.3d
196 (Conn. Ct. App. 2015). The Anderson court found that a condominium association did
not properly assess fines upon a unit owner because the association failed to provide the unit
owner with an opportunity to be heard in a fair manner. Anderson 1I 2 A.3d at 200. The

Anderson court held that before imposing fines, t.be association had a duty to give the
accused unit owner "an opportunity to know the facts on which the agency is asked to act, to
cros -examine witnesses and to offer rebuttal evidence." (1ntemal quotation marks omitted.)

Ander on l 12 A.3d at 200.

,r 39

,r 40

B. The Board 's Defenses
The board members argue that this court should affirm the decision to grant their motion
for summary judgment on count m for four-reasons: first Boucher ti led no response to their
affinnative defenses· second the board members met all the requirements of the Act; third,
under the business judgment rule, the court cannot find them liable; and fourth. the
condominium de laration protects them from liability.

,r 41
,r 42

l. Failure to Respond to Affirmative Defenses
1n their affim1ative defenses, defendants charged Boucher with numerous acts of
misconduct not mentioned in the notices sent to Boucher in August 2013 . We do not see how
Boucher's misconduct shows that the board members fulfilled their fiduc iary duties. Even if
we assume the truth of all the new allegations in the affirmative defenses we find no grounds
for granting the defendants ' motion for summary judgment on count

I~
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1 43
1 44

2. Section 18.4(1)

In support of their argument that they met the requirements of the Act, defendants rely on
section 18.4(/), which provides that the board has the power, "after notice and an opportunity
to be heard, to levy reasonable fines for violation of the declaration, by-laws, and rules and
regulations of the association." 765 ILCS 605/18.4(1) (West 2012). The provision does not
negate the provision in the same section that imposes fiduciary duties on all board members.
765 ILCS 605/18.4 (West 2012). We find no conflict between the two provisions. The board
members' fiduciary duties remain subject to judicial interpretation. Northwest Airlines 451
U.S . at 95. A board may reduce the board members' fiduciary duties by reducing the degree
to which unit owners must trust the board. See Burdett, 957 F.2d at 1381. Section 18.4(1)
establishes that no matter how courts interpret fiduciary duties, and no matter how much the
board does to reduce their duties, the board must provide, at a minimum, notice and an
opportunity to be heard before imposing fines on any unit owners. 765 ILCS 605/18.4(/)
(West 2012). The section does not imply that board members who provide such notice and
opportunity have fulfilled all their fiduciary duties. 765 ILCS 605/18.4 (West 2012).

, 45

Also, the notice required by section 18.4(/) placed a duty on board members to inform the
accused unit owner of the charges against him. See Local 165, International Brotherhood of
Electrical Workers v. Bradley, 149 Ill. App. 3d 193,212 (1986). Some of the defendants in

their depositions admitted that, in assessing the fines against Boucher, they relied on alleged
misconduct not mentioned in the letters sent to Boucher in August 2013. The defendants'
motion for summary judgment also extensively recounts, as a basis for the fines against
Boucher, allegations of misconduct not mentioned in any notice sent to Boucher in
16
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connection with the October 4 hearing. Thus the evidence in the record can support a finding
that, because the board did not give Boucher notice of all the charges they intended to
consider in cmmection with possible discipline the board did not meet even the minimal
requirements of section 18.4([).

46
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3. Busiaess Judgment Rule
Next, defendants invoke the business judgment rule. Boucher argues that the case does
not involve a business judgment at all because disciplinary decisions should not count as
business judgments. We disagree. Establishing and enforcing rules for courteous interactions
between unit owners, and between unit owners and association employees, forms part of the
business of the condominium association. See Walker, 644 A.2d at 636.

1 48

The business judgment rule permits a trier of fact to preswne that a corporate board made
its decisions "on an informed basis, in good faith and in an honest belief that the actions
taken are in the best interest of the company.'

Jntemal quotation marks omitted.

Spillyards v. Abboud 278 lll. App. 3d 663, 676 ( 1996). A plaintiff may overcome the
presumption by presenting evidence that the defendants failed 'to inform themselves, prior to
making the business decision of all material information reasonably avrulable to them."

Spillyards 278 Ill. App. 3d at 681-82.

1 49

Here Boucher showed that the board members withheld from him the video of the
elevator incident and the employee's letter concerning the key card incident, thereby
depriving themselves of readily avrulable information as to how Boucher would respond to
the evidence. Also, the evidence in the record could support a finding that the board failed to
inform Boucher of some of the charges the members took into account in finjog Boucher

17
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thereby further depriving themselves of his response to the charges. We find that the business
judgment rule does not justify the order granting defendants' motion for summary judgment
on count III.

,i 50
,i 51

4. Exculpatory Clause
The defendants also rely on the condominium declaration, which provides:
"The Individual Directors, Board, [and] officers of the Association

*** shall not

be liable to the Unit Owners for any mistake in judgment or for any other acts or
omissions of any nature whatsoever as such individual Directors, Board or
officers, except for any acts or omissions found by a court to constitute gross
negligence, willful misconduct or fraud. "

,i 52

The Act establishes that boards may adopt condominium declarations "not inconsistent
with the provisions of this Act." 765 ILCS 605/4(i) (West 2012). If courts interpret the
exculpatory clause in the declaration so broadly that it excuses decisions to withhold material
information from unit owners, the clause conflicts with the Act's provision that board
members owe fiduciary duties to unit owners. 765 ILCS 605/ 18.4 (West 2012). While the
declaration may limit liability for business decisions made in good faith, it cannot limit
liability for violations of the duties of honesty, candor, full disclosure, loyalty, and good
faith. See Sherman v. Ryan, 392 Ill. App. 3d 71 2, 730 (2009). If directors of a condominium
seek to reduce their fiduciary duties or their liability for breach of those duties, the directors
must reduce the extent to which the unit OVl,ners must trust them. See Burdett, 957 F.2d at
1381. The board cannot maintain both (1) that the unit owners must trust them to a very high
degree with power over their homes and (2) that they have essentially no potential liability
18
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for breach of the fiduciary duties that result fi:om their power over the unit owners. Insofar as
the exculpatory clause in the declaration effectively reasserts the protections of the business
judgment rule like the business judgment rule the clause does not justify the order granting
summary judgment here. If the exculpatory clause negates the defendants' fundamental
fiduciary dutie of honesty and loyalty where the duty of loyalty entails a duty of full
disclosur

see Janowiak 402 IJJ. App. 3d at 1008), the exculpatory clause conflicts with the

Act, and the Act establishes that the lause becomes ineffective. Thus the exculpatory clause
cannot justify the order granting the summary judgment motion here.
53
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C. Association Liability
Tb circuit court granted the association

motion to dismiss count III based on the

court's holding that the association cannot have fiduciary duties. lllinois courts have held
that, where individual board members breach their fiduciary duties, any liability that may
result due to the individual defendants' breach may extend to the ass ciation itself. Wolinslcy

v. Kadi on~ 114
2012 IL

ru. App. 3d 527

pp (1st) 110620,

533 (1983); Goldberg v. Astor Plaza Condominium Assn.

62. The imposition of fiduciary duties on the association

ensure that when a uwt owner can show that some association employee or board member
has iolated fiduciary duties, the unit owner may recover from the association, even if the
unit owner cannot specify whi h employee r board member breached fiduciary duties. The

a ociation would then bear the burden of identifying the tortfeasor and recovering from that
person.

ee Washing/on Gaslight Co. v. District of Columbia, 161 U.S. 316, 328 (1896)

(noting "the right of a master to reco er over the damages which he had been obliged to pay
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in consequence of a servant's negligence"). Following Wolinsky and Goldberg, we find that
Boucher has stated a viable claim against the association for breach of its fiduciary duties.
155

The circuit court will have an opportunity on remand to address anew the question of
whether to allow Boucher to take Jansen's deposition. We need not address the issue here.

1 56
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Response to Dissent
The dissent states at great length facts not relevant to this court's review of the dismissal
of count I for failure to state a claim for relief.
"A section 2-615 motion to dismiss (735 ILCS 5/2-615 (West 2002)) challenges the legal
sufficiency of a complaint based on defects apparent on its face. *** In reviewing the
sufficiency of a complaint, we accept as true all well-pleaded facts and all reasonable
inferences that may be drawn from those facts. [Citation.] We also construe the
allegations in the complaint in the light most favorable to the plaintiff. [Citation.] Thus, a
cause of action should not be dismissed pursuant to section 2-615 unless it is clearly
apparent that no set of facts can be proved that would entitle the plaintiff to recovery."
Marshal/ v. Burger King Corp., 222 Ill. 2d 422, 429 (2006).

"No cause of action should be dismissed on the pleadings unless it clearly appears that no
set of facts can be proved to sustain it. [Citation.] We are possessed by a state of
considerable dubiety as to whether plaintiffs' allegations can be sustained at trial, but this
is clearly an insufficient reason to deny them their day in court." Golden Rule Life

Insurance Co. v. Mathias, 86 Ill. App. 3d 323, 332-33 (1980).

20

A-20

No. 1-16-2233

,r 58

The facts stated in paragraphs 68 through 74 of the dissent, all alleged in defendants'
pleadings not plaintiff's provide grounds for granting sununary judgment in favor of the
defendants. Tho.se facts cannot justify dismissal of count I under section 2-615 of the Code.

If we impose on plaintiffs a requirement that, in order to state a cause of action for violation
of section l 8.4(h) of the Act the plaintiff must anticipate and refute all defenses to the claim,
the impossible burden would entirely defeat the admirable goal of the Act-to di courage the
directors of condominiums from abusing their positions of extreme trust in ways that deprive
residents of their right to express opinions, their right to assemble peaceably, and their right
to practice their religions. Count I states a cause of action for violation of section 18.4(h) of

the Act, even though Boucher wiJI likely prove unable to win a judgment on count I.

,r 59

For count Il the dissent rejects the Act 's c plicit definition of a ''meeting" and uses
instead a definition with language that does not come from the Act. The Act defines a
"Meeting of Board of Managers'' as "any gathering of a quorum of members of the Board

**"' held for the purpose of conducting board business." 765 ILCS 605/2(w) (West 2012.
Notice to members plays no part in the definition. A request -by a member for the meeting
does not make the gathering of members of the Board any less of a meeting.
60

The dissent also finds judgment for defendants on count Ill justified, even though the
defendants admjtted that they djd not disclose to plaintiff the evidence they considered
against him. The clissent would have the court override the fiduciary duty to disclose, to
reward the defendants for treating plaintiff as an adversary even before he filed the lawsuit-while they maintained control over the expenditure of bis funds for the building while tbey
retained authority to restrict his behavior in aJ1d around his home, and while they bad
21

A-21

No. 1-16-2233

Wlfestricted access to his home. When trustees find themselves in an adversarial posture with
the cestuis qui trust, the trustees must leave the trust relationship. When lawyers find
themselves in an adversarial posture with their clients, they must no longer represent those
clients. The fiduciary must not resort to adversarial posturing in the context of the fiduciary
relationship. The admitted failure to disclose evidence may warrant summary judgment in
Boucher' s favor on count III. The record cannot justify the award of a judgment in favor of
the board on count III.

,i 61

The dissenter fears that if the court enforces the Act as written, courts will "become
embroiled in the internal affairs of condominium associations." Infra ,i 82. When the
legislature adopts legislation that may require judicial enforcement, the legislature effectively
directs the court to become embroiled in resolution of the problem the legislature has
addressed. The Act here will almost certainly not embroil the courts in frequent lawsuits over
board members ' breaches of fiduciary duties or violations of sections 18.4(h) and 19 of the
Act. Only foolhardy persons, or persons deeply aggrieved by intolerable misconduct, file
lawsuits against persons who have unfettered access to their homes.

,i 62

The legislature wrote the Act in a way that discourages abuse of the position of extreme
trust that all members of condominium boards hold. The dissent would rewrite the Act to
undo the legislature' s work and instead leave unpunishable breaches of fiduciary duty and
qther abuses of power by board members. The business judgment rule protects the business
judgments made by board members. But board members have fiduciary duties of honesty and

full disclosure to all residents and owners of the condominiums they manage-even if the
residents or owners are consistently rude, arrogant, and obnoxious. Persons who cannot bring
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themselves to disclose honest) to any owner all that they find out about the owner and the
owner's unit should not take on positions of extreme trust. They should not have Wllim.ited
access to the homes of the owners and residents. They should not serve as board members.

63
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CONCLUSION
Boucher sufficiently alleged a violation of section I 8.4(h) of the Act by alleging that the
board fined him for ex-pressing his opinions about the management of the condominium. The
Act requires the board to maintain minutes recording board actions at every meeting,
including closed meetings. Because the board kept no record of the October 4 meeting other
than a video and audio recording, the board's recording constitutes the minutes of the
meeting. Boucher presented sufficient evidence to create an issue of fact as to whether the
board violated section 19 of the Act by refusing his request for the minutes of the meeting.
Boucher presented sufficient evidence to create an issue of fact as to whether the association
and the board members violated their fiduciary duties to Boucher when they withheld from
him the evidence that provided the basis for their decision to fine hlm. Defendants Del
Monico Jansen and Gajderowicz presented uncontested evidence that they did not take part
in the decision to den

Boucher's request for the minutes of the October 4 meeting.

Accordingly w affirm the decision to grarit Del Monico, Jansen, and Gajderowicz s motion
for summary judgment on count II of Boucher s complaint. Jn all other respe-cts, we reverse
the trial court' judgment and remand for further proceedings.
65

ffirmed in part· reversed and remanded in part.
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JUSTICE MASON, dissenting:

1 67

I respectfully dissent from my colleagues' conclusion that Boucher is entitled to pursue
claims against the Association and its Board of Managers for (i) retaliating against him for
exercising his first amendment right to complain about management of the building, (ii)
failing to produce the video recording of his disciplinary hearing, and (iii) breaching their
fiduciary duties to him by improperly charging him with violations, assessing penalties for
those violations, and "concealing evidence" during his disciplinary hearing. Condominium
associations are mini-democracies that depend on the agreement of association members who
voluntarily join the association to adhere to a common "constitution," consisting of the
association's declaration. That document,

to

which all unit owners are bound, governs

members' use and enjoyment of individually-owned condominium units as well as shared
elements jointly owned by all. And condominium associations, like some democracies, can
be utterly dysfunctional. This is particularly true when one association member decides that
the constitution to which he agreed to be bound when he voluntarily became a member of the
association simply does not apply to him.

1 68

Michael Boucher and his wife purchased a unit at 111 East Chestnut and thereby
voluntarily became members of the Association. 111 East Chestnut's Declaration, predating
Boucher s purchase, contains section 23(e), which reads:
"No obnoxious or offensive activity shail be carried on in any Unit or in the Common
Elements, nor shall anything be done therein, either willfully or negligently, which may
be or become an annoyance or nuisance to other Unit Owners or occupants or which
disrupts any other Unit Owner' s reasonable use and enjoyment of the Property."
24
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1n addition, the Association's rules and regulations, promulgated by the Board pursuant to its
authority prohibit "abusive behavior toward any building employee.'

,r 69

For years prior to the events giving rise to Boucher's lawsuit, Boucher repeatedJy
engaged in (i) obnoxious and offensive activity under any reasonable definition of those terms,

in the Association s common elements· and (ii) abusive behavior toward building employees
both of which gave rise to numerous complaints from unit owners and building employees alike.
For example Boucher, who concedes he is "aggressive with everyone, ' admitted to having
referred to Genine Campbell a female African-American doorperson, as a 'cocky bitch' in her
presence, but did not remember whether be a ked a male doorperson if he was "sexing the big
girl,' again referring to Campbell. On another occasion, a female employee of the management
company working the overnight shift reported that at 2 a.m., Boucher engaged her in a discussion
regarding enemas. 1

only the employee and Boucher were present and given the late hour the

employee found Boucher's conduct "creepy." When Boucher first met Board President Anthony
Milazzo at a board meeting, he yelled. "Hey, dago. '' Boucher does not believe the word ''shit" is
profanity.
~

70

Prior to 2013, Boucher's persistent offensive comments resulted in two sexual
harassment claims filed by Campbell against her employer with the Illinois Department of
Human Rights and the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission.

1 71

Further, on two occasions prior to the events giving rise to his lawsuit Boucher was
warned about his behavior. Oo September 17, 2009, Ste en P . Hanna, Assistant Vice
his deposition, Boucher !aimed he couldn ' t remember the conversation, but when asked if it
was 'pos ible that it occurred resp nded "[w]ouJd you repeat to me what an enema versus a
1 In

colonoscopy is?'
25
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President of the Association's management company-then known as Draper & Kramerwrote to Boucher, relaying a complaint by a female employee that during a conversation
regarding an automatic external defibrillator purchased by the building, Boucher lifted his
shirt and referred to bis chest as his "deliberators. "2 Hanna also informed Boucher that he had
received other complaints from residents and employees regarding Boucher's repeated use of
offensive language in the course of his conversations with them. Two years later on
September 20 2011, Torn Taylor, Vice President of DKCondo, informed Boucher that he
had received complaints from unit owners and Association employees regarding Boucher's
demeaning insulting and disrespectful" comments to them. In 2012, the Board censured
Boucher for his conduct towards Campbell.

72

In 2013 two additional incidents in olving Boucher occurred. On July 23, 2013, Boucher
arrived in the management office to replace a fob used to operate the elevators. When the
employee asked Boucher what happened to the old fob, Boucher replied "It took a shit."
Boucher then tried to pay cash for the replacement, but the employee informed him that the
office did not accept cash and that he could either pay by check or add the charge to his
monthly assessment. According to the employee, Boucher began talking loudly and was rude
and offen ive. tn a letter dated July 29 2013, Boucher was ad ised by Robert Graf. executive
vice president of Sudler Property Management (who by then was managing the building),
that his interacti n with the employee was "completely inappropriate and frankJy offensive."
Graf further stated: ' Shouting at staff to make special accommodations in our financial
policy is not acceptable. No respons from Boucher to this letter is in the record. On August

2

Boucher denied lifting his shirt, but clarified that he used the word 'defibrillators.'
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20, 2013, Boucher was on the elevator when Ms. Campbell, the doorperson, attempted to
board. Boucher became angry and did not want to ride the elevator with Campbell. Campbell
reported that Boucher ordered her not to enter the elevator because she was a "fucking
employee." A security camera captured soundless video of the incident. A Board member
who viewed the video described what she saw: ''[Y]ou can see him yelling. You can almost
see the spit coming out of his mouth, he was so furious with her pointing at her.

***

You

could see his fury just by watching the video.

73

Both incidents prompted letters from the Association's counsel, informing Boucher that
his behavior violated Section 23(e of the Declaration and that the Board would consider an
appropriate fine for the violations. The two letters also advised Boucher that he could request

a hearing to contest the validity of the charges within 30 days which he did.
174

At the hearing on October 4, 2013 which was videotaped Boucher said nothing. His
lawyer spoke for about 20 minutes. Following the hearing, the Board convened a closed
session and voted to fme Boucher $2

75

·o for each incident.

Against this backdrop, Boucher' s claim in count l of his amended complaint-that the
August 201 charges against him were motivated by the exerci e of his first amendment right
to complain about building management- is specious. Boucher s amended complaint
contained no factual allegations upportiog the conclusion that the August 2013 notices were
prompted by or bore any relationship to Bou her' s. alleged complaints two months earlier
about issues such as short-term rentals of units, pool sanitation or the imposition of
'arbitrary" fine on unit owners. See Dempsey v. Johnson 2016 lL App (1st 153377, ~ 26
(to state a cause of action in a first amendment retaliation claim, plaintiff must allege facts
2')

A-27

No. 1-16-2233

indicating a causal nexus between the protected activity and the alleged retaliatory conduct);
Thomas v. Walton, 461 F. Supp. 2d 786, 796 (S .D. Ill. 2006) (in first amendment retaliation

case, summary judgment was properly granted to defendant where plaintiff "failed to
produce any evidence that his alleged protected speech was a substantial, motivating factor
for the alleged retaliation").
176

In light of the detailed complaints it received in August 2013 , the Board had little choice
but to cite Boucher with violations of section 23(e), not only because his conduct so clearly
violated that provision, but also because the Board' s failure to act would have violated its

.

duty to the other unit owners and management company employees to enforce the
Association' s Declaration and rules. Indeed, Milazzo testified that at one point he became
concerned "that we as a board would be negligent if we took no action" to address Boucher' s
behavior.
1 77

Circumstances like these are precisely why the Board s decisions are protected by the
business judgment rule. "[A]bsent evidence of bad faith, fraud, illegality or gross
overreaching, courts are not at liberty to interfere with the exercise of business judgment by
corporate directors." Feliciano v. Geneva Terrace Estates Homeowners Ass 'n, 2014 IL App
(1st) 130269, 1 39; see also Goldberg v. Astor Plaza Condominium Ass 'n, 2012 IL App (1st)
110620, 163. Further; courts afford discretion to condominium boards in interpreting and
enforcing an association' s declaration. Apple II Condominium Ass 'n v. Worth Bank & Trust
Co. , 277 Ill. App. 3d 345, 350 (1995). Other than his conclusory allegation that the Board

was motivated to charge him based on his complaints about management of the building
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rather than his offensive conduct, Boucher offers no reason for us to overlook or secondguess the Board' s business judgment in determining that he should be fined.
,i 78

Boucher's own testimony makes clear that he is calling into question Board members'
judgm nt in handling the complaint. Referring to the elevator incident, Boucher stated: "As a
manager, I would have called both people in and found out what the story was.' According to
Boucher at his hearing, the people complaining about him should have been called in to give
their stories and he should have been able to give his version of events and the Board then
s110uld have ''draw[n] a conclusion from there." Although Boucher disagrees with the
Board 's decision to fine him, he cannot in good faith contest that (i) Board members

infonned themselve of the basis for the charges against him in advance of the hearing and
(ii) since all Board members attended the hearing and heard, through Boucher's counsel, his
version of events they were fully informed in advance of making their decision. Especially
in light of Boucher's long history of offensive and insulting conduct and the failure of
previou warnings to dissuade his bullying behavior. the business judgment rule shields the
Board' s action from further examination. Stamp v. Touche Ro s & Co .. 263 Ill. App. 3d
1010, 1017 (1993) (plaintiff failed to plead the absence of business judgment where

'[n]owhere in the complaint does plaintiff allege that the defendants did not make informed
judgments or use due care in arriving at those judgments'')· Feliciano, 2014 IL App (1st)
130269

40 trial court properly granted ummary judgment to homeowners' ass ciation on

the basis of the business judgment rule, since plaintiffs' allegations of bad-faith
decisionmaking were mere "conje ture ').
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And the protection afforded the Board's action under the business judgment rule is
mirrored in the provisions of the Declaration, which limit the liability of board members to
unit owners "for any mistake in judgment or for any other acts or omissions," with the
exception of "acts or omissions found by a court to constitute gross negligence, willful
misconduct or fraud." Given the record here, no reasonable finder of fact could conclude that
the Board's decision to sanction Boucher for his offensive conduct fell into any of the
foregoing exceptions and, therefore, both the business judgment rule and the provisions of
the Declaration shield the defendants from liability.
Thus, although I agree with the majority's conclusion that Boucher was not required to
demonstrate "state action" in order to state a claim, count I was nevertheless properly
dismissed because its allegations of a relationship between Boucher's complaints about
building management and the Board's decision to cite him for violating section 23(e) of the
Declaration were wholly conclusory and insufficient to overcome application of the business
judgment rule. And given the detailed record before us developed after extensive discovery,
any effort by Boucher to amend his complaint to include such factual allegations would be
futile and, in my view, sanctionable. Therefore, I would affirm the judgment in favor of
defendants on count L
For the same reasons, I would affirm summary judgment in favor of defendants on count
III, charging breaches of the board members' fiduciary duties. It is undisputed that the Board
received complaints regarding Boucher's conduct in August 2013, not to mention on
numerous earlier occasions. One of the 2013 incidents was recorded on videotape and a
Board member who viewed the tape confirmed that Boucher appeared to be yelling and was
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visibly angry. 3 Nothing in the Condominiwn Act or the Association's Declaration required
the Board to hold a hearing during which sworn testimony was presented or provide
Boucher either in advance of or during the hearing with "evidence" supporting the notices
of violation. The Board bad the benefit of both sides of the story and decided that penalties
against Boucher for both violations were warranted. There is simply no factual basis for
Boucher' s claims that Board members did not fulfill their fiduciary duties to him.
~
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The result reached by the majority invites courts of equity to become embroiled in the
internal affairs of condominiwn associations. Central to Boucher's retaliatory conduct and
breach of fiduciary duty claims is his contention that the notices of violation issued in August
2013 were 'false.' But because condominium associations are self-governed and because an
association ' s declaration approved by unit owners is presumptively valid, courts should
refrain from undertaking the task of resolving intramural disputes (which arise quite
frequently in such organization ) between a unit owner and the board when the unit owner
does not claim the association violated its own rules of procedure. In other words if the Wlit
owner does not allege a violation of the process for assessing a fine or penalty, a court should
decline to become involved in determining whether grounds for the penalty existed. Indeed

were ourts required to referee internal disputes that arise in condominium associations, they
would have time for little else.

83

This is not a case in which the Board ' interpretation of the declaration or its ru1es and
regulations has resulted in infringement of a unit owner's constitutional rights.

ee Shoreline

1 Boucher obtained a cop of the ideotape in discovery in this case and bas not disputed the
Board member' s characterizati n.

A-31

No. 1-16-2233

Towers Condominium Ass 'n v. Gassman

404 Ill. App. 3d 1013, 1014-15 (2010)

(condominium board interpreted association mle prohibiting unit owners from placing
personal objects of any sort in the common areas to allow association to repeatedly remove
religious symbol affixed to front doorframe of unit). The fines against Boucher did not
prevent him from complaining to anyone about issues in the building and Boucher did not
present any evidence to the trial court that the fines had dissuaded him from doing so. If
Boucher's complaint is sufficient to state a claim for retaliatory conduct by the Board, then
all a problem unit owner need do is allege that the real reason he is being fined is not because
he has, in fact, violated the association's declaration or rules, but because he is a complainer,

i.e., because he exercised his first amendment rights. We should hesitate to recognize such
spurious claims as they burden associations with costly litigation, which must be borne by all
unit owners.

184

Boucher received all the process he was due. See 765 ILCS 605/18.4(1) (West 2012)
(authorizing board to, inter alia, levy fines for violation of the declaration, by-laws, and rules
and regulations of the association "after notice and an opportunity to be heard"). Boucher
admitted that the notices apprised him of, and that he understood the basis for, the violations
he was charged with. He was, as the notices of violations advised him, entitled to a hearing,
which he was afforded. Although the video of the hearing is not part of the record, we must
assume that Boucher, through his attorney, gave the Board his version of events, a safe
assumption since in his deposition, Boucher testified he felt "violated" by his encounter with
Campbell on the elevator, admitted he used ' hit" to refer to his broken elevator fob and
denied that he was otherwise abusive toward the building employee. Although he claims the
32
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Board concealed e idence'' from him, as noted, nothing in the Act or the Declaration
entitles a Wlit owner to pre-hearing discovery or otherwise obligates a board to provide the

unit owner anything other than notice and an opportunity to be heard. Accordingly I believe
the trial court properly entered summary judgmeot in favor of defendants on count Ill. Given
that conclusion, it is unnecessary to resolve the additional is ue of whether the Association is
directly ot vicariously liable for board members' breaches of fiduciary duty.

85

The trial court also properly entered summary judgment in defendants' favor on count II
regarding Boucher s request for a copy of the videotape of the October 4, 2013 hearing. The
hearing held on October 4 2013 was convened at Boucher's request. It was not a Board
meeting. No notice of a Board meeting was provided to unit owners and no agenda was
prepared. Nothing in the Act, the Association s declaration, or its rules and regulations
requires every Board member to attend a hearing requested by a unit owner regarding a
notice of violation and proposed fine. The fact that all Board members attended the hearing,
either in person or telephonically cannot transform a hearing held at a unit owner's request
to address an issue pertaining only to that unit owner into a Board meeting. By the same
token the fact that the Board de ided (but was n t obligated) to ideotape the hearing does
not serve to render the vide tape the functional equivalent of "minutes" required to be kept
under the Condominium Act. Simply put, the videotape of Boucher's hearing does not fall
into any of the categories of association records to which unit owners are entitled under
section l 9(a)(4 oftbe Act. 765 ILCS 605/ 19(a)(4) (West 2012).

,r 86

I would affirm the orders appealed from in their entirety and therefore, respectfully
dissent.
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